
  Page 1 of 20 

TOWN OF SOUTH BETHANY 
TOWN COUNCIL WORKSHOP MEETING MINUTES 

APRIL 23, 2014 

 
MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 
 
Mayor Jankowski called the April 23, 2014, Town Council Workshop Meeting to order at 1:30 p.m. 
 
ATTENDANCE 
 
PRESENT: Mayor Kathy Jankowski; Councilpersons Al Rae, Jim Gross, Tony Caputo, Sue 

Callaway, George Junkin, and Pat Voveris; Town Manager Melvin Cusick; and Code 
Enforcement Constable Joseph Hinks 

 
Mayor Jankowski asked everyone present at the meeting to introduce themselves.  The following 
were present:  Bob Cestone, Charter and Code Committee; Bob Coleman, 230 Carlisle Dr.; Jack 
Whitney, Planning Commission Member; Kent Sanderson, 128 Layton Drive; Ron Wuslich, 
President of the Inland Bays Foundation; Ralph Lockard, 226 Carlisle Dr.; Dick Oliver, Planning 
Commission; Linda Whitney, 105 Boone Rd.; Margaret Oliver, 410 Victoria Road; Renee 
Coleman, 230 Carlisle Dr.; Ralph Romeo, 119 Layton Dr.; Leigh Giangreco, Delaware Wave; and 
Laura Walter, Coastal Point. 
 
Mayor Jankowski thanked everyone for the great turnout. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD 
 
There were no comments from the public. 
 
PRESENTATION OF ANALYSIS SHOWING LITTLE OR NO TRUE INCREASE IN CANAL TIDE LEVEL 
OVER THE LAST 14 YEARS (ROBERT COLEMAN, PE, SOUTH BETHANY PROPERTY OWNER) 
 
Robert Coleman introduced himself.  Mr. Coleman said he has had his property at 230 Carlisle 
Dr. for 27 years.  Mr. Coleman is a professional engineer that has been involved in the energy 
industry and has a natural interest in the goings on of global warming and sea level rise since it 
started in the 1990s.  Mr. Coleman stated that over the last 27 years he has paid careful attention 
to where the tide levels are on the bulkhead on his property, and he sees no measurable change.  
Mr. Coleman said he does not claim to be an expert at plotting tides or a climatologist, but he 
does have over 40 years of experience analyzing data from flight test data to design data to 
trouble shooting power plant problems by diagnosing their operating data.  Mr. Coleman is 
concerned about the way the analysis has been done regarding data he has seen presented at 
various places around town and DNREC.  Regarding Mr. Coleman's PowerPoint Presentation, 
Mr. Coleman said he used charts that are readily available on the Town's website or from links to 
the Town website.  Mr. Coleman said he is not questioning the data, but he is going to talk about 
the way the data was analyzed.  During his presentation Mr. Coleman explained why he 
disagrees with the way the data was analyzed.  The following are the slides in Mr. Coleman's 
PowerPoint Presentation: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



4/23/14  Page 2 of 20  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



4/23/14  Page 3 of 20  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



4/23/14  Page 4 of 20  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



4/23/14  Page 5 of 20  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Regarding data that is oscillating up and down, Mr. Coleman does not think it is appropriate to try 
to force something to a straight line (linear curve fit) when every variable in there is oscillating. 
 
On Slide 3:  Mr. Coleman believes the blip at around 2010 is probably due to the dredging of the 
canals because one of the variables that regulates how much tide you see in the canals is the 
amount of silt in the canals. 
 
Slide 5 (USGS 01484781 Little Assawoman Bay at Fenwick Island, DE):  Mr. Coleman said this is 
from a US Geological Survey chart and it shows high and low tides.  What Mr. Coleman did here 

 

 



4/23/14  Page 6 of 20  

was draw kind of a weighted average through the high tide and the low tide.  It doesn't show any 
slope.  It looks like it is not changing.  That is a different source of tide information. 
 
Slide 6 (Comparison of OC Actual to Canal Actual Tides – March 2013):  Mr. Coleman said the 
data on this slide tells him there are other variables besides the ocean tide that have more 
influence on the canals then the ocean tides, such as wind, rain, and phase of the moon. 
 
Slide 7 (Global Mean Sea Level Rise from NOAA):  Mr. Coleman does not believe it is valid to 
take this little sample and try to project it in both directions five times as far. 
  
Slide 8 (NOAA Data):  Mr. Coleman does not believe you can take short samples and draw valid 
conclusions.   
 
Slide 9 (Links to Dr. Legates & Dr. Willie Soon):  Mr. Coleman encouraged Council to use the 
links on this page to review two presentations that are about an hour long each.  He said the 
presentations are done in easy to understand terms for laymen.  Mr. Coleman said they are 
excellent reviews on what all the flaws are in the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 
(IPCC) methodology.  Mr. Coleman also encouraged Council to research other things on the 
internet.  Councilman Junkin said he can put Mr. Coleman's PowerPoint Presentation on the 
Town's website so that people can reach those links. 
 
Councilman Junkin asked if anyone had questions.  Referring to Mr. Coleman's presentation, 
Councilman Gross said he can understand why Mr. Coleman has trouble with the linear 
extrapolations, but Councilman Gross thinks by picking a point (picking one date) in each of the 
years as Mr. Coleman did will give all kinds of odd curves.  Councilman Gross does not think the 
curve Mr. Coleman presented is representative of all.  Councilman Gross would rather use the 
average that Councilman Junkin used to try to understand this issue.  Councilman Gross said if 
Mr. Coleman wants to come forward with a different curve that is not linear then he might be able 
to understand better what Mr. Coleman is saying. 
 
After more discussion, Councilman Junkin explained the curves/slopes on his charts.  
Councilman Junkin said he can supply Mr. Coleman with the 800,000 plus data points on an 
excel spreadsheet rather than looking at the chart to try to figure out what it is.  Councilman 
Junkin said picking one date every month is not a good way to calculate them out.  Mr. Coleman 
believes picking one day every month is as good or better. 
 
Referring to one of the charts, Mr. Wuslich asked Councilman Junkin what conclusion he draws 
from the period 2004 to 2014.  Councilman Junkin said he does not analyze data by eye; he 
analyzes data with the computer. 
 
At the conclusion of the discussion on Mr. Coleman's presentation, Mayor Jankowski thanked Mr. 
Coleman.  Mr. Coleman thanked Council. 
 
RESPONSE TO SEA LEVEL RISE (SLR) COMMITTEE PRESENTATION (JACK WHITNEY, 
SOUTH BETHANY PROPERTY OWNER) 
 
Jack Whitney introduced himself.  Mr. Whitney said he is a graduate of Virginia Tech and was 
commissioned as a military officer and went to war.  Mr. Whitney spent 20 years as an 
engineering consultant and has worked the last 25 years in construction working for the federal 
government in both program management and construction management.  Mr. Whitney retired in 
2007.  Mr. Whitney presented the following PowerPoint Presentation: 
 
 
 
 
 

 



4/23/14  Page 7 of 20  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

  

 

 



4/23/14  Page 8 of 20  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



4/23/14  Page 9 of 20  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mr. Whitney thinks the Town should require that the DBE be at the lowest structural level (the bottom of 
the floor joist) for new construction and substantial improvement for all areas in South Bethany, including 
AO zones. Mr. Whitney referred to an October 2006 article that he is basing this recommendation on. 
 
Code Enforcement Constable Joe Hinks stated that new houses in South Bethany are being built 
in compliance with FEMA and with freeboard.  Mr. Whitney said there is a house built on 
Bayshore Dr. that he believes does not comply. 
 
Mr. Hinks stated that since he has been the Code Enforcement Constable, property owners have 
been advised to consider building based on the new proposed FIRM or better. 
 
Councilman Gross disagreed that substantial improvement costs will be dramatically higher 
because the FEMA code now requires an additional foot anyway – the committee is 
recommending it be raised two feet more than what FEMA already requires.  Councilman Gross 
said every time you have substantial improvement you have to bring it up to code.  Councilman 
Junkin clarified that if there was a substantial improvement in an area that went from five feet to 
six feet the property owner would probably have to spend the $50,000 to $100,000 to raise the 
house because you have to raise it for the one foot.  Councilman Junkin said it does not cost a 
whole lot more to raise the house another two feet.  Mr. Whitney said it is not always that simple.  
Mr. Whitney said he can raise his furnace one foot but he can't raise it three feet.  He said he 
would have to put it somewhere else and he would have to redo all of the piping.  Mr. Whitney 
said this was not due to the height limitation.  After discussion Councilman Gross agreed that 
there may be isolated examples like that.  
 
Councilman Gross stated that of the 13 new houses built from April 2012 to July 2013, all but one 
complied with the three foot requirement. 
 
When asked what a substantial improvement was, Councilman Gross gave the following 
definition:  Substantial improvement is any repair, renovation, addition, or other improvements of 
a structure the cost of which equals or exceeds 50% of the market value of the structure before 
the start of construction of the improvement. 
 
Regarding the recommended bulkhead requirement, Margaret Oliver said the Town should 
consider the income level of some of the property owners.  She said a lot of them are just on 
social security and their houses are paid for.  Ms. Oliver asked how they were going to pay for 
this.  Councilman Junkin said he will accept saying property owners don't have to raise their 
bulkhead, but he would like to allow people to raise their bulkhead if they want to.  Councilman 
Junkin said he has been convinced not to mandate that, but everything else he is still for. 

  



4/23/14  Page 10 of 20  

DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE VOTE REGARDING THE SEA LEVEL RISE (SLR) AND STORM SURGE 
(SS) COMMITTEE'S CODE CHANGE RECOMMENDATIONS TO ADAPT TO SLR AND SS ISSUES 
 
Councilman Junkin gave the following PowerPoint Presentation: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 



4/23/14  Page 11 of 20  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

At the meeting, Councilman Junkin 
made the following correction to 
Number 3 of this slide: 
 
"To protect facilities that are 
permitted below the highest 
elevated level [Parking, Storage 
and an Entrance to the home], 
require that construction comply 
with FEMA Technical Bulletin 02 – 
Flood Damage – Resistant 
Materials Requirements. 
 

 

 



4/23/14  Page 12 of 20  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



4/23/14  Page 13 of 20  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



4/23/14  Page 14 of 20  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



4/23/14  Page 15 of 20  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  



4/23/14  Page 16 of 20  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 



4/23/14  Page 17 of 20  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 



4/23/14  Page 18 of 20  

 
 
Slide 7:  Councilman Junkin stated that he has been convinced that the Town should not require 
that bulkheads have to be higher, but he would like to allow property owners to make them 
higher.  After discussion on bulkheads, Councilman Gross said he thinks he and Councilman 
Junkin are convinced that what the committee recommended regarding bulkheads is not doable. 
 
Slide 8 Bullet 4:  Councilman Junkin said he agrees it is the storm events that get South Bethany, not 
the sea level rise per say; but if sea level is rising, the storm events tend to follow the sea level rise. 
 
Slide 8 Bullet 7:  Councilman Junkin agreed that a 5% reduction on flood insurance is probably 
not a good reason to make the changes to the code, but it is a fallout of making the changes.  
Councilman Junkin said the reason for making the changes to the code is to protect the house. 
 
Mr. Whitney suggested considering using BFE relative to building height. 
 
Mr. Cestone is concerned that houses will look like tall towers using a 38 ft. height restriction. 
 
Motion:  When Councilman Junkin finished his presentation he made a motion that Council accept 
the Sea Level Rise and Storm Surge Committee's recommendations relative to three ft. of 
freeboard and an increased height elevation of 34 feet above the center of the road or 38 feet 
NAVD, whichever is higher.  Councilman Gross seconded the motion.  For clarification, Councilman 
Junkin said he wants the design flood elevation to be the base flood elevation plus three feet. 
 
Council Discussion: 
 
Councilwoman Voveris stated that she thinks it is premature.  She believes Council should study 
it more.  Councilwoman Voveris said she has spent a lot of time reading and researching and she 



4/23/14  Page 19 of 20  

is not comfortable with approving the recommendation.  She feels it is a major decision that will 
impact a lot of lives financially.  She believes the Council needs more due diligence on the 
subject. 
 
Councilwoman Callaway stated that she thinks the community hasn't had a chance to benefit 
from all of the information the SLR & SS Committee has presented.  She believes there are some 
advantages to the upcoming Public Meetings on Sea Level Rise & Storm Surge Issues of Interest 
to the Town of South Bethany.  Councilwoman Callaway thinks the Council needs to weigh a 
flexibility option (give property owners an option to go up in height).   
 
Stating that the recommendations could have an impact on property owners, Mayor Jankowski 
said she would like to hear more of the input from the upcoming Public Meetings on Sea Level 
Rise & Storm Surge Issues of Interest to the Town of South Bethany.  Mayor Jankowski said that 
after hearing the presentations at today's meeting, she is not comfortable with making a decision 
today.  She would like to go back and look at the videos presented in Mr. Coleman's presentation 
and process the information that Council heard today. 
 
Councilman Caputo suggested that Council go forward by allowing the recommendation to be an 
option, and should Council find out subsequently that it makes sense to make it a requirement, 
convert the option to a requirement. 
 
Councilman Rae asked for the wording on the motion.  Councilman Junkin stated, "Require three 
feet of freeboard and allow the height of the house to go to 34 feet above the road or 38 feet 
NAVD, whichever is higher." 
 
Mayor Jankowski stated that as the code is now the dilemma is that when the Town recommends 
three feet of freeboard, property owners are going to get less of a house if the height restriction is 
not raised.  Property owners who don't want less of a house are going to build without freeboard.  
 
Councilwoman Callaway suggested moving forward with drafting something that allows it but not 
requires it.   
 
Mayor Jankowski asked Councilman Junkin to repeat the motion.  Councilman Junkin said, 
"Require the design flood elevation to be base flood elevation plus three feet and allow the height 
to be 34 feet above the center of the road or 38 feet NAVD whichever is higher." 
 
Vote:  Mayor Jankowski called for a vote.  The voting was as follows: 
 
FOR THE MOTION: Councilpersons Rae, Gross, and Junkin 
 
AGAINST THE MOTION: Mayor Jankowski and Councilpersons Caputo, Callaway, and Voveris 
 
The voting result was 3 in favor and 4 against.  The motion was defeated. 
 
Councilman Caputo stated that he would like to propose changing "require" to "allow" and include 
freeboard in the package.  Councilwoman Callaway said to have freeboard directly tied into it. 
 
Councilman Junkin said code could be written that relates how much extra height is allowed 
relative to how much freeboard they have or how much above base flood elevation they have. 
 
Councilman Junkin said the significant difference he hears people saying is that they want to 
have freedom to do what they want but not be required to do it.  Councilman Rae said they have 
to be required to do what FEMA requires and then anything above that is optional.  Councilman 
Junkin said what you are saying is require freeboard if you want more height. 
 



4/23/14  Page 20 of 20  

Mayor Jankowski proposed that Councilman Junkin take this back to the SLR & SS Committee to 
consider rewriting their proposal that if a property is going to be putting in the three feet of 
freeboard the property owner would be allowed to raise the height of their house.  Councilman 
Junkin asked if it was three feet of freeboard or nothing.  Mayor Jankowski said it should be 
relative to freeboard. 
 
Councilman Gross suggested including this issue on the survey that is needed for comprehensive 
planning so that all property owners will have a chance to be heard.  Mayor Jankowski stated that 
she did not think this can be covered in a survey because it is too difficult to understand.  Mayor 
Jankowski believes the Town has to have public education on the issue such as the upcoming 
scheduled public hearings. 
 
Councilman Junkin requested that one of the Council Members who wants the wording to be 
different write a couple of sentences that says what they think the wording should be.  
Councilwoman Voveris volunteered to write the wording. 
 
Mayor Jankowski stated that this has been a great workshop.  Mayor Jankowski liked all of the 
different perspectives that Council heard.  She said it was very helpful.  Mayor Jankowski thanked 
everyone. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
At 4:25 p.m. a motion was made (by Councilman Junkin) and seconded to adjourn the April 23, 
2014, Town Council Workshop Meeting.  The motion was unanimously carried.  
 
 
 
phs:Workshop Minutes 4.23.14 SLR Amended and Approved 6.27.14 


